Loss of N-Glycolylneuraminic Acid in Humans: Mechanisms, Consequences, and Implications for Hominid Evolution

AJIT VARKI

Glycobiology Research and Training Center and Departments of Medicine and Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, California 92093

KEY WORDS sialic acids; human evolution; genomic mutation; great apes

ABSTRACT The surface of all mammalian cells is covered with a dense and complex array of sugar chains, which are frequently terminated by members of a family of molecules called sialic acids. One particular sialic acid called N-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc) is widely expressed on most mammalian tissues, but is not easily detectable on human cells. In fact, it provokes an immune response in adult humans. The human deficiency of Neu5Gc is explained by an inactivating mutation in the gene encoding CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in generating Neu5Gc in cells of other mammals. This deficiency also results in an excess of the precursor sialic acid N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac) in humans. This mutation appears universal to modern humans, occurred sometime after our last common ancestor with the great apes, and happens to be one of the first known human-great ape genetic differences with an obvious biochemical readout. While the original selection mechanisms and major biological consequences

of this human-specific mutation remain uncertain, several interesting clues are currently being pursued. First, there is evidence that the human condition can explain differences in susceptibility or resistance to certain microbial pathogens. Second, the functions of some endogenous receptors for sialic acids in the immune system may be altered by this difference. Third, despite the lack of any obvious alternate pathway for synthesis, Neu5Gc has been reported in human tumors and possibly in human fetal tissues, and traces have even been detected in normal human tissues. One possible explanation is that this represents accumulation of Neu5Gc from dietary sources of animal origin. Finally, a markedly reduced expression of hydroxylase in the brains of other mammals raises the possibility that the human-specific mutation of this enzyme could have played a role in human brain evolution. Yrbk Phys Anthropol 44:54–69, 2001.

© 2001 Wiley-Liss, Inc.

GLOSSARY

CMP-Neu5Ac: Cytidine-monophosphate-Neu5Ac, the high-energy sugar nucleotide donor for enzymes that add Neu5Ac to glycosylated molecules. Also, the natural substrate for conversion to CMP-Neu5Gc.

Deuterostomes: coelomate animals which have radial instead of spiral cleavage at the eight-cell stage and forms the anus from the blastopore instead of the mouth (includes vertebrates and relatives, as well as certain higher invertebrates, such as sea urchins and starfish).

Glycosylation: attachment of sugar chains to other molecules like lipids and proteins, giving glycolipids and glycoproteins.

N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac): the most common form of sialic acid in most mammals.

N-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc): another common form of mammalian sialic acid, which is selectively missing in humans.

Pseudogene: an inactive but stable component of the genome derived from an ancestral active gene.

Sialic acids: a family of 9-carbon acidic sugars found attached to many glycosylated cell surface and secreted molecules.

Sialyltransferases: enzymes that use CMP-Neu5Ac or CMP-Neu5Gc as donors to add Neu5Ac or Neu5Gc to glycolipids and glycoproteins.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Glycosylation of Cell Surfaces	55
The Biochemistry of Sialic Acids	56
Human-Specific Loss of Neu5Gc Expression	58

Modern comparative evidence	58
Evolution and the loss of Neu5Gc production	59
Functional Consequences of Neu5Gc Loss in Humans	60
Infection and disease	60
Intrinsic functions of sialic acids	63
Implications for biotechnology and xenotransplantation	64
Implications for the human brain	65
Conclusions and Perspectives	65
Acknowledgments	66
Literature Cited	66

The evolution of modern humans from a common ancestor with the great apes occurred in a series of steps, influenced by complex interactions among genetic, developmental, ecological, microbial, climatic, behavioral, cultural, social, and other factors. There are many scientifically valid approaches towards gaining an understanding of how we came to be human. Prominent among these approaches are: developmental, cognitive, social, and behavioral comparisons of humans with other primates; the paleontology and archeology of human ancestors; and the systematic genetic comparison of humans with other primates. Given the remarkable progress of molecular biology techniques, the deciphering of most of the human genome (Lander et al., 2001; Venter et al., 2001), and the relative ease of obtaining genomic DNA noninvasively from humans and other primates, the genetic approach should, in principle, be somewhat easier than the others mentioned. In fact, apart from the general realization that our genomic DNA sequences are remarkably similar to those of the great apes (King and Wilson, 1975; Sibley and Ahlquist, 1987; Caccone and Powell, 1989; Goodman et al., 1994; Ruvolo, 1997; Takahata and Satta, 1997; Kaessmann et al., 2001; Chen and Li, 2001), there have been relatively few specific genetic differences between humans and apes uncovered to date (reviewed in Gagneux and Varki, 2001). This has led some to call for a great ape/ primate genome project (McConkey and Goodman, 1997; McConkey et al., 2000; McConkey and Varki, 2000), to accelerate progress in this area.

While morphologists have long sought to demonstrate the adaptive significance of divergent anatomical structures, this has generally not been the case for molecular anthropologists. The latter have, to a large degree, used comparative DNA (or amino acid) sequences for dating evolutionary events rather than for understanding the evolutionary processes that led to the sequence divergence. Thus, very little is known of the selective (or random) forces that led to the 1-2% sequence differences between humans and the African great apes, or about the adaptive molecular differences that emerged during this period of primate evolution.

This review discusses one of the few known apehuman genetic differences with a clear-cut biochemical consequence, the selective inactivation of the CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid (CMP-Neu5Ac) hydroxylase gene in the human lineage (Muchmore et al., 1998; Irie et al., 1998; Chou et al., 1998). The resultant loss of a specific cell-surface sugar on human cells has implications for issues as diverse as human susceptibility and resistance to pathogens, the consequences of human ingestion of animals foods, the human innate immune response, and the development of the human brain. As with most unexpected discoveries, this finding has raised more questions than answers. An attempt is made to address some of these questions, and to suggest directions for future research.

GLYCOSYLATION OF CELL SURFACES

Every high school graduate should now know about DNA, RNA, and proteins, and most would understand that a universal DNA code defines the genes of all living things. These genes can be transcribed into their corresponding RNA sequences, which in turn are translated into proteins. This "central paradigm" of molecular biology, i.e., that DNA makes RNA makes protein, has dominated recent approaches to understanding how living things work. However, there are several reasons why this scientifically powerful reductionist approach cannot fully explain the structure and function of complex multicellular organisms like humans. One reason is that DNA itself is of little use unless the genes it encodes are expressed (transcribed to RNA, and hence translated into proteins)-and gene expression is profoundly influenced by the physical, ecological, biological, and social milieu in which an organism exists. Indeed, the social and cultural activities of humans must have a major impact on gene expression within the species, as well as in the many other species that humans interact with. A second reason is that besides DNA, RNA, and proteins, there are two other major classes of molecules that are required to create almost all life forms that we know of: lipids and sugars (glycans). Glycans fall into two general categories: the more familiar small sugars like glucose that are a major source of energy, and the less wellknown glycan chains that are attached to many proteins and lipids, particularly on the surface of cells (Varki, 1999a). Indeed, there are no extant free-

55

Grant sponsor: NIH; Grant number: R01-GM3273; Grant sponsor: G. Harold and Leila Y. Mathers Charitable Foundation.

living organisms whose cells are not each covered with a dense coating of these glycan chains, comprising a so-called "glycocalyx" that is no less obvious than the icing on a birthday cake. These complex cell-surface sugar chains are the products of a specialized intracellular machinery whose synthesis and organization are themselves dictated by the expression of several hundred genes (Varki and Marth, 1995; Varki, 1998). This machinery is supplemented to an unknown extent by the incorporation of sugar building blocks from dietary sources into endogenous biosynthetic pathways (Freeze, 1999). Given their ubiquitous occurrence in nature and their dominant presence on the surface of cells, it is not surprising that these sugar chains are intimately involved in the interactions between cells, both within an organism, and between organisms. A third limitation of the DNA-RNA-protein paradigm for explaining humans is that the human genome seems to have less than 35,000 genes (Lander et al., 2001; Venter et al., 2001). Thus, there cannot possibly be a "gene for" each specific biological entity or function. Rather, the genetic contribution to the structure and function of most aspects of an organism arise from the combinatorial effects of multiple genes, gene regulation mechanisms, and gene products that act upon one another in various ways, under the constant influence of environmental factors. The attachment of glycan chains to proteins and lipids (so-called glycosylation) is a prime example of such a "postgenomic" process, wherein new biological entities or functions result from the action of one set of genes on the products of other genes.

Despite these considerations, studies of the structure and biology of glycans have lagged far behind those of DNA, RNA, proteins, and lipids. There are many reasons for this, including the branching and complexity of these sugar chains, the lack of an easily recognizable template-driven functional "code," and technical limitations in studying their structure and function. Recent advances have substantially reduced this technical gap, opening up a new field now called glycobiology (Rademacher et al., 1988; Varki, 1999a). Thus, as with genomics (determining the total genomic DNA of an organism), transcriptomics (elucidation of the complete set of genes expressed in a given cell type in a given situation), and proteomics (the description of all proteins found in a given cell type in a given situation), we are just beginning to enter the era of glycomics (elucidation of the complete array of glycans found on a given cell type in a given situation).

THE BIOCHEMISTRY OF SIALIC ACIDS

A microbial organism approaching a mammalian cell surface would likely first encounter members of a family of sugars called sialic acids, which tend to be the outermost units on the glycan chains attached to the proteins and lipids below (Fig. 1). This family of 9-carbon acidic sugars (Gottschalk, 1960; Rosenberg and Schengrund, 1976; Schauer, 1982;



Ye et al., 1994; Inoue et al., 1996; Varki, 1992, 1999b) is found predominantly in the deuterostome lineage of animals (Warren, 1963; Traving and Schauer, 1998; Angata and Varki, 2001). There are more than 40 kinds of sialic acids known in nature, and most are derived via biosynthetic modifications of a parent molecule called N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac) (Fig. 2). Further complexity arises from the fact that sialic acids can be attached to the underlying sugar chain in several different types of linkages (Tsuji et al., 1996). While many of these kinds and linkages of sialic acids can be found within a single species, there are also marked species-specific differences with regard to their relative amounts and/or distribution. Likewise, even within a single species, there can be substantial differences between different cell types in the pattern and composition of their sialic acids. The evolution of this remarkable structural complexity is probably related to the diverse biological roles of these sialic acids in different cell types.

Fig. 1. Sialic acids on the surfaces of vertebrate cells. Sialic acids (shown as solid diamonds) are typically found at the outermost end of sugar chains attached to cell surface and secreted glycoproteins and glycolipids. See text for discussion.

N-glycolylneuraminic Acid

(Neu5Gc)

н-с-он

н-с-он

ċн

LIN

KAGE TO

UNDERLYING SUGAR CHAIN

H-C-OH

эн

N-acetylneuraminic Acid

(Neu5Ac)

ії₉ н-с-он

н-с-он

Óн

Ĥ

LINKAGE TO

UNDERLYING SUGAR CHAIN

н-

н

|8 С−ОН





Fig. 3. Biological roles of sialic acids (Varki, 1999b; Traving and Schauer, 1998) can be divided into the general groupings indicated. M, microorganism or toxin. See text for discussion.

By virtue of their negative charge and surface location, sialic acids can mediate many biological roles in normal and pathological situations (Fig. 3). It is well-known that a wide variety of human and animal pathogens use cell-surface sialic acids to either gain an initial foothold on the cells they infect or to target toxic molecules that they secrete (Sandvig et al., 1991; Escalante et al., 1995; Sharon, 1996; Varki, 1997, 1999b; Gagneux and Varki, 1999; Karlsson, 1998, 2000; Fig. 3 for examples). If these were the sole functions of sialic acids, the detrimental consequences to deuterostome animals should have caused these sugars to be eliminated and/or replaced by others during the course of evolution. However, the absence of sialic acids is lethal during early mouse embryogenesis (W. Reutter, personal communication), and genetic modifications of sialic acid linkages in mice cause significant pathologies (Priatel et al., 2000; Hennet et al., 1998), indicating that these molecules also have critical endogenous functions. Some of these functions are primarily structural or physical, e.g., aiding the filtration function of the kidneys or providing negative charge repulsion between cells in the blood stream. In the brain, this type of negative charge repulsion becomes enhanced and specialized by the formation of long chains of sialic acids (called polysialic acids). These can serve to physically separate neurons and neuronal extensions and hence participate in what can be loosely called "brain plasticity" at the organizational level (Rutishauser and Landmesser, 1996). Over the last two decades, it has become clear that sialic acids are also recognized by specific receptors within the same animals that synthesize these sugars (Bevilacqua and Nelson, 1993; Kelm et al., 1994b; Varki, 1994, 1997; Powell and Varki, 1995; Crocker and Feizi, 1996; Kansas, 1996; Collins et al., 1997a; Kelm and Schauer, 1997; Crocker et al., 1998; Brinkman-Van der Linden et al., 2000; Crocker and Varki, 2001a,b; see Fig. 3 for examples). Emerging evidence indicates that these receptors, particularly a family called the Siglecs (Crocker and Varki, 2001a,b; Angata et al., 2001), are able to

recognize the diversity in sialic acids, and their linkages to underlying sugars. An additional set of biological roles for sialic acids is found in certain microbial organisms that decorate their cell surfaces with sialic acids (Troy, 1992; Wessels et al., 1989; Bozue et al., 1999), thereby allowing them to evade recognition and destruction by certain vertebrate immune mechanisms. These examples occur despite the fact that sialic acids seem to be otherwise restricted to the deuterostome lineage of animals. The best explanation can be found in the fact that all of these microorganisms are vertebrate pathogens (see examples in Fig. 3). Since surface sialic acids limit activation of multiple functions of the immune system, these pathogenic organisms likely benefit from coating themselves with these sugars. This form of molecular mimicry may have occurred mostly via convergent evolution, wherein these microorganisms evolved a variety of ways either to make their own sialic acids or to procure them from their vertebrate hosts.

While there are many kinds of sialic acids in nature (Gottschalk, 1960; Rosenberg and Schengrund, 1976; Schauer, 1982; Varki, 1992; Ye et al., 1994; Inoue et al., 1996; Varki, 1999b; Angata and Varki, 2001), the surfaces of most cell types in the mammalian species studied to date tend to be dominated by two major kinds: N-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac) and N-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc). Neu5Gc is different from Neu5Ac only by an additional oxygen atom (see arrow in Fig. 2). In order for sialic acids to get attached to glycoproteins and glycolipids, they must first be "activated" by conversion to their respective sugar nucleotide derivatives. Thus, the common sialic acid Neu5Ac is converted to cytidine-monophosphate-Neu5Ac (CMP-Neu5Ac), which is then used as a high-energy donor for attaching Neu5Ac to newly made glycoproteins and glycolipids that are on their way to the cell surface. The synthesis of the Neu5Gc form of sialic acid takes place initially at the level of this sugar nucleotide precursor (Shaw and Schauer, 1988; Bouhours and Bouhours, 1989; Muchmore et al., 1989; Kozutsumi et al., 1990; Shaw et al., 1992, 1994; Takematsu et al., 1994; Kawano et al., 1995; Schlenzka et al., 1996). Thus, as shown in Figure 4, an enzyme called CMP-Neu5Ac hydroxylase (hereafter referred to as CMAH) catalyzes the transfer of one oxygen atom to CMP-Neu5Ac, generating CMP-Neu5Gc. The latter can now also be used as a donor to add Neu5Gc to molecules destined for the cell surface from their sites of initial synthesis within the cell. The enzymes that actually transfer sialic acids to glycoproteins and glycolipids (called sialyltransferases) can typically use both CMP-Neu5Ac and CMP-Neu5Gc as donors (Higa and Paulson, 1985). Thus, the ratio of these two major sialic acids found on a given cell surface is likely to be largely determined by the ratio within the sugar nucleotide donor pool available in that cell type.



Fig. 4. Factors involved in biosynthesis of CMP-N-glycolylneuraminic acid (CMP-Neu5Gc). The enzymatic mechanism of the CMP-Neu5Ac hydroxylase that is primarily responsible for generating Neu5Gc in nonhuman animal cells is shown. The reaction takes place in the cytosolic compartment. The enzyme product CMP-Neu5Gc is the donor subsequently used for adding Neu5Gc to glycoproteins and glycolipids. CMP-Neu5Ac hydroxylase activity is present in great apes but not in humans. See text for discussion.

HUMAN-SPECIFIC LOSS OF Neu5Gc EXPRESSION

Modern comparative evidence

Some of the early pioneers who discovered the sialic acids noted that, in contrast to the situation in other mammals such as rodents and ungulates, Neu5Gc was very hard to find in human tissues (reviewed in Gottschalk, 1960; Rosenberg and Schengrund, 1976; Schauer, 1982). However, the methods they used could have missed small amounts of Neu5Gc in humans. An independent line of evidence suggesting that Neu5Gc is lacking in humans came from the medical field of hematology. For the clinical management of certain blood disorders, it becomes necessary to infuse serum from horses into human patients. Not surprisingly, these patients often generate an immune response against components of the infused animal serum and manifest a condition called "serum sickness reaction," which contraindicates further infusions. Some investigators who studied the serum sickness reaction noted that the immune response was being generated at least in part against Neu5Gc, which is present in abundance on horse serum glycoproteins and glycolipids (Kasukawa et al., 1976; Merrick et al., 1978; Higashi et al., 1977). This finding strengthened the notion that Neu5Gc is a foreign antigen to adult humans. However, several groups then reported (mostly using indirect methods such as antibody detection) that Neu5Gc could be found in human cancers and possibly in human fetal tissues (Kawachi and Saida, 1992; Ikuta et al., 1982; Higashi et al., 1984; Stacker et al., 1985; Hirabayashi et al., 1987a; Kawachi et al., 1988; Saida et al., 1990; Devine et al., 1991; Kawai et al., 1991; Marquina et al., 1996; Malykh and Schauer, 2001). Moreover, Neu5Gc was also reported in some cultured cell lines of human origin (Nakarai et al., 1987; Ohashi et al., 1983). Taken together, these data suggested that humans might have a functional CMAH gene, but simply suppress its expression sometime before the postnatal period when "immune tolerization" to self-antigens occurs.

Our recent studies done with more sensitive modern techniques (Muchmore et al., 1998) showed that while Neu5Gc is undetectable (<0.1% of total sialic acids) on the red blood cells and blood plasma proteins of adult humans, similar samples from all of the great apes have substantial amounts (Neu5Gc representing between $\sim 20-90\%$ of total sialic acids). Since the great apes are our closest evolutionary cousins (King and Wilson, 1975; Sibley and Ahlquist, 1987; Caccone and Powell, 1989; Goodman et al., 1994; Ruvolo, 1997; Takahata and Satta, 1997), the human loss of Neu5Gc expression must have occurred sometime after the ape-human common ancestor. A secondary consequence of this loss is that humans also have much higher levels of Neu5Ac, the precursor molecule to Neu5Gc.

Assays of CMAH enzyme (Fig. 4) showed easily detectable activity in great ape cells, but not in human cells (Muchmore et al., 1998). The next logical step was to examine the gene encoding the CMAH, to see if its promoter (regulatory) regions were mutated in some manner in humans, thereby altering its expression in adult humans. Indeed, two groups independently found that the CMAH gene in humans had suffered a mutation (Irie et al., 1998; Chou et al., 1998). Surprisingly the mutation was not in the regulatory regions of the gene that might have modified its expression patterns between fetal and adult states, but rather in the coding region which dictates the amino-acid sequence of the enzyme itself (Fig. 5). The mutational event had deleted 92 base pairs of a single stretch of the sequences coding for the protein (corresponding to exon 6 in the mouse gene). Since amino acids are dictated by triplets of DNA base pairs, the loss of 92 base pairs (bp) also resulted in a "frame-shift," thus markedly truncating the length of the final protein encoded by the human gene (Chou et al., 1998). Moreover, this truncated protein is missing certain amino acids that were known to be critical for the activity of the enzyme itself (Schlenzka et al., 1996). In contrast, examination of the CMAH gene from the chimpanzee and relevant portions from the corresponding genes from other apes (Chou et al., 1998) showed that they all encode an intact enzyme that is not very different from those originally cloned from mice and pigs (Kawano et al., 1995; Schlenzka et al., 1996). Thus, it is clear that humans lost Neu5Gc on their cell surfaces because of an inactivating mutation in the CMAH gene. The gene is localized to chromosome 6 band p23-p22 in both humans and great apes (Irie et al., 1998; Chou et al., 1998), which does not correspond to an area of known chromosomal rearrangement during hominoid evolution (Yunis and Prakash, 1982). Furthermore, the remaining human intronic region is very similar in size to that in the intact mouse genome (Irie et al., 1998), indicating that the deletion eliminating the



Fig. 5. Human-specific genomic mutation in CMP-Neu5Ac hydroxylase. The CMAH gene contains 18 exons that span more than 100 Kb of genomic DNA in humans, mice, and apes. A schematic version of a portion of the gene is shown, with boxes indicating amino acid-coding exons. Only the region mutated in humans is shown, and the downstream consequences of the mutation at each level are indicated. Only the spliced form of the messenger RNA is shown, again indicating only the region of the mutation. See text for further discussion.

92-bp exon in humans must have been quite small. The corresponding genomic regions from the chimpanzee and other nonhuman primates were recently sequenced (Hayakawa et al., 2001). The region containing a 92-bp exon of the CMAH gene turns out to have an adjacent AluSq element in all nonhuman primates studied, and both were replaced by a newly disseminated AluY element that is specific to humans (Alus are parasitic repetitive DNA elements found in large numbers throughout the primate genome). Thus, it is possible to propose a mechanistic model whereby an Alu-mediated replacement event coincidentally deleted the 92-bp exon and inactivated the CMAH gene sometime in the human lineage (Hayakawa et al., 2001).

Evolution and the loss of Neu5Gc production

Why did humans lose Neu5Gc production? It is difficult to be certain about why a particular genetic change became fixed in a particular species at some time in the evolutionary past. However, based on current knowledge of the functions of sialic acids (see above), one can propose some possible scenarios to explain the human loss of Neu5Gc. The most likely one is selection of a randomly occurring CMAH gene mutation by a lethal microbial pathogen that required cell-surface Neu5Gc for effective infection (see below for some examples of such current-day pathogens). Once such a mutation had thus become common in a human ancestral population, it could have undergone further selection because it conferred some additional benefits, or have simply drifted to fixation in the absence of any further selection. A more intriguing possibility is that the inactivated allele of the CMAH gene was favorably selected because it conferred valuable new endogenous functions upon individuals who became homozygous for it.

When did this mutation occur in relation to the various steps in human evolution? The identical mutation was found in genomic DNA in >40 individuals representing many different geographic regions, including African Kung bushmen and Khwe pigmies (among whom the greatest genetic diversity is known to be present; Takahata and Satta, 1997; Kaessmann et al., 2001). This, together with the lack of detectable Neu5Gc in blood samples from many additional humans studied by us, indicates that the mutation is universal to modern humans. Thus, the inactivation of the CMAH gene must have occurred sometime after our common ancestor with the bonobo/chimpanzee clade (~6 million years ago; King and Wilson, 1975; Sibley and Ahlquist, 1987; Caccone and Powell, 1989; Goodman et al., 1994; Ruvolo, 1997; Takahata and Satta, 1997), but prior to (or possibly coincident with) the common origin of modern humans (variably estimated by different authors, with the most recent possible date of about

 ${\sim}100,000$ years ago; Takahata and Satta, 1997; Krings et al., 1997).

A more accurate estimate of the timing of the gene inactivation would be of value for generating hypotheses about the potential consequences of Neu5Gc loss in humans. For example, if it took place about 2 million years ago, this might suggest a possible contribution towards the brain size increase that began with the emergence of genus Homo (Wood and Collard, 1999). Sequenceable autosomal DNA has not been successfully recovered from fossilized mammalian bones that are more than about 50,000 years old (Greenwood et al., 1999; Hofreiter et al., 2001). Even the few successes tend to occur when using samples from northern latitudes. Indeed, the probability of recovering DNA is known to be worse for samples exposed to warmer temperatures (Smith et al., 2001). The occasional successes in obtaining mitochondrial DNA from fossil hominids >50,000 years old (Krings et al., 1997) are explained by the much higher copy number of mitochondrial DNA within each cell. Overall, it is not possible (at least with current technology), to obtain and directly study CMAH gene sequences from hominid fossils that predated the common origin of modern humans.

Two other approaches are therefore currently being pursued to try timing the inactivation of the CMAH gene. The first relies on sequence comparisons of the great ape and other primate CMAH genes with those of the remaining portions of the inactivated human gene. The assumption is that once the human gene became nonfunctional (i.e., became a pseudogene), it was no longer under selection pressure, and would thus accumulate both synonymous and nonsynonymous mutations at similar rates. Such data are currently being used to estimate an approximate inactivation date (collaboration with N. Takahata). The second approach relies on the direct study of residual sialic acids found in fossils (unpublished observations, in collaboration with S. Paabo). These preliminary analyses suggest a dating of a little over 2 million years ago.

It should be noted that there are reported strain variations in red blood cell expression of Neu5Gc among dogs (Hashimoto et al., 1984; Yasue et al., 1978) and cats (Ando and Yamakawa, 1982; Furukawa et al., 1988a), and in the latter instance, the presence or absence of Neu5Gc on red cells can act as a blood group system (Andrews et al., 1992). However, systematic studies of other tissues of these dog and cat strains have not been reported. Thus, we do not know if it is only red blood cells that show differential expression. Chickens are the only species besides humans that have been found to generate a generalized immune response to Neu5Gc when infused with animal serum (Fujii et al., 1982). In fact, polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies generated by chickens immunized with horse serum or horse red cell glycolipids have been very useful as tools in the study of Neu5Gc expression (Hirabayashi et al., 1987b; Higashi et al., 1988). Again, a systematic study of chicken tissues has not been carried out to see if the presumed lack of Neu5Gc is true for all organs. Furthermore, the presence of Neu5Gc in ducks (Ito et al., 2000) indicates that this is not a general feature of birds. Further studies of the CMAH gene in a wide selection of birds and carnivores seem warranted. However, a recent study showed that Neu5Gc is present on the serum immunoglobulins of cows, sheep, goats, horses, mice, dogs, guinea pigs, rats, and rabbits, as well as rhesus monkeys (Raju et al., 2000). Thus, even if genetic variations in Neu5Gc expression are found among members of some of these species, the 92-bp exon deletion responsible for the human loss of CMAH activity remains a unique genetic event that occurred after our common ancestor with the great apes, and is now universal among modern humans.

FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF Neu5Gc LOSS IN HUMANS

Infection and disease

As indicated above, many major pathogens and their toxins gain access to their mammalian hosts by binding to cell-surface sialic acids. The microbial binding proteins involved in such interactions can show exquisite specificity for the precise structure and linkage of the sialic-acid target (Sharon, 1996; Karlsson, 1998; Varki, 1997, 1999b). Thus, the human loss of Neu5Gc would have conferred protection from animal pathogens that prefer to bind to this sialic acid, while enhancing the success of pathogens that prefer to bind to Neu5Ac. As shown in Table 1, this issue has not been thoroughly studied for most human pathogens. It is clear that certain microbes causing serious diarrheal diseases in farm animals like cows and pigs have a strong preference for Neu5Gc (Kyogashima et al., 1989; Ouadia et al., 1992; Willemsen and de Graaf, 1993; Lanne et al., 1995; Delorme et al., 2001; Schwegmann et al., 2001), and humans are thus immune to infection. It is reasonable to speculate that this mechanism of resistance may have facilitated the domestication of some animal species, by limiting transfer of their pathogens to human caretakers. An even more speculative possibility is that this difference aided the worldwide migrations that brought humans into contact with diverse pathogen regimes of novel species of wild animals they encountered. In this regard, more information is needed about the sialic acid binding specificity of pathogens affecting animals that now live in very close contact with humans, such as dogs and cats. Perhaps they will turn out to prefer Neu5Gc, explaining the relatively low rate of pathogen transfer from these domesticated pets to humans. Another intriguing issue is that of the influenza A virus, the agent of epidemic and pandemic influenza in humans (Wilson et al., 1981; Ito and Kawaoka, 2000; Taubenberger et al., 2000). It appears that these viruses originate from wild

TABLE 1. Examples of effects of Neu5Gc vs. Neu5Ac on recognition of mammalian cells by microbial pathogens and toxins

Sialic acid-binding pathogen	Influence of Neu5Gc on recognition
E. coli K99 adhesin (diarrhea)	Required for binding (humans resistant)
Transmissible gastroenteritis Coronavirus (diarrhea)	Preferred for binding (humans resistant)
Rotavirus (diarrhea)	Human virus prefers Ac, bovine virus prefers Gc
Influenza A and B virus (influenza)	Depends upon strain; Gc sometimes preferred in nonhuman influenza viruses
P. falciparum merozoite (malaria)	Neu5Gc not studied (chimps not susceptible?)
Vibrio cholerae toxin (cholera)	Neu5Gc not studied in detail
Streptococcus sanguis (dental caries)	Neu5Gc not studied
Helicobacter pylori (ulcers)	Neu5Gc not studied
Tetanus toxin (tetanus)	Neu5Gc not studied
Coronaviruses (common cold)	Neu5Gc not studied
Mycoplasma pneumoniae (pneumonia)	Neu5Gc not studied
Polyoma virus (tumors)	Neu5Gc not studied

water fowl and make their way to humans via domesticated livestock animals such as pigs (Suzuki et al., 1997; Ito and Kawaoka, 2000). Studies indicate that some animal forms of influenza A virus preferentially bind to Neu5Gc, while human forms can have some preference for Neu5Ac (Higa et al., 1985; Weis et al., 1988; Ito et al., 1997, 2000; Suzuki et al., 1986, 1997). Thus, a switch in specificity from Neu5Gc to Neu5Ac might be a required or facilitatory step in animal-to-human transmission of some influenza strains.

On the other hand, if there are microbes that selectively prefer Neu5Ac, these should be more pathogenic in humans. While no clear-cut examples of this situation are known, most of the possibilities have yet to be explored. One potential example is *Plasmodium falciparum*, the causative agent of the most serious form of human malaria that afflicts millions worldwide. The merozoite form of this organism that invades red blood cells uses cell-surface Neu5Ac as one of its targets for initial binding (Klotz et al., 1992; DeLuca et al., 1996; Reed et al., 2000). Since chimpanzees appear to be resistant to this form of malaria (Ollomo et al., 1997), it is possible that the *P. falciparum* merozoite receptor proteins do not recognize Neu5Gc. Conversely, the merozoite stage of the phylogenetically related *Plasmodium* reichenowi that infects chimpanzees (Qari et al., 1996; Escalante and Ayala, 1994) might recognize Neu5Gc preferentially. Functional comparison of the P. falciparum and P. reichenowi merozoite receptors seems to be worthwhile. Overall, it is clear from Table 1 that much further work is needed to pursue the consequences of Neu5Gc loss for resistance and susceptibility to infectious diseases in humans.

The antibodies generated by a normal adult human exposed to infusion of horse serum (called Hanganatziu-Diecher or HD antibodies) can agglutinate the red blood cells of various animals, such as horses, pigs, and cows, by virtue of the fact that they all carry surface Neu5Gc. Using the same kind of red-cell agglutination assay, spontaneously occurring HD antibodies have also been reported in patients who have never had exposure to animal serum infusion. While such serum reactivities are rare

in normal human adults, they are found in a significant proportion of patients with cancer, as well as in diseases such as leprosy, rheumatoid arthritis, liver disease, and infectious mononucleosis (Morito et al., 1982, 1986; Nishimaki et al., 1979; Takiguchi et al., 1984). At least two explanations can be considered for these phenomena. The first possibility is that as in cancer, some of these diseases involve proliferation of vascularized tissues (e.g., the granulomas of leprosy and rheumatoid arthritis). Thus, a low-grade immune response might be occurring against Neu5Gc that is being gradually incorporated into such tissues from dietary sources over time (see discussion below). The second possibility is that these antibodies emerge as a nonspecific consequence of the disregulation of the immune system that occurs in some of these disease states. Individuals with prior exposure to Neu5Gc in the diet may have rare preexisting memory B cells capable of producing antibodies directed against Neu5Gc. Such B cells could undergo nonspecific expansion under conditions of generalized immune disregulation. The first possibility could be tested by directly assaying the affected tissues for the presence of Neu5Gc.

Despite the complete inactivation of the CMAH gene in humans, there have been reports of traces of Neu5Gc in normal human tissues (Muchmore et al., 1998) and in cultured human cell lines (Nakarai et al., 1987; Ohashi et al., 1983). The latter finding is easily explained by the fact that human cells are typically cultured in fetal bovine serum, which is rich in glycoproteins carrying Neu5Gc. The fluidphase uptake of such glycoproteins into the lysosomes of cultured cells would eventually result in incorporation of the foreign Neu5Gc into human cellular glycoproteins and glycolipids (see pathway A in Fig. 6). The best evidence for this route of incorporation is that growing the cells in the absence of animal serum results in the eventual disappearance of Neu5Gc (Furukawa et al., 1988b; Muchmore et al., 1998). However, this pathway cannot explain the traces of Neu5Gc found in tissues from normal humans who are not directly exposed to animal serum (Muchmore et al., 1998). On the other hand, the nature of the CMAH mutation in humans (an exon deletion eliminating critical amino-acid residues)



Fig. 6. Uptake, metabolism, and turnover of Neu5Ac and Neu5Gc in mammalian cells. The general pathways for production and utilization of sialic acids in mammalian cells are shown. Thick lines represent cellular membranes, or intracellular membranous compartments, as indicated. The common sialic acid Neu5Ac is synthesized from a neutral precursor N-acetylmannosamine (ManNAc) in the cytosolic compartment, activated into CMP-Neu5Ac in the nucleus, and eventually pumped into the Golgi apparatus by a specific transporter (Lepers et al., 1989). There it serves as a donor for adding sialic acids to newly synthesized glycolipids and glycoproteins that originate from the endoplasmic reticulum, and are en route to the cell surface or to be secreted from the cell. Sialic acids are eventually released in the lysosomal compartment as part of the overall degradation of glycolipids and glycoproteins and then pumped back into the cytosol (Verheijen et al., 1999), to be reutilized as shown. Conversion of CMP-Neu5Ac to CMP-Neu5Gc occurs in nonhuman cells, and the subsequent fate of Neu5Gc is similar to that of Neu5Ac-recycling and varying degrees of reutilization. Double line indicates block in conversion of CMP-Neu5Ac to CMP-Neu5Gc in human cells. Two possible pathways (A and B) for incorporation of Neu5Gc of exogenous into human cells are indicated with dotted lines. Pathway A involves uptake of glycolipids or glycoproteins carrying Neu5Gc into the lysosomal compartment. This pathway could only operate in cultured cell lines, or in humans given intravenous infusions of animal proteins. Pathway B involves uptake of neutral precursor N-glycolylmannosamine (ManNGc) by passive diffusion across the plasma membrane, with subsequent conversion into Neu5Gc. ManNGc could originate from breakdown of dietary Neu5Gc in the gut. Both these pathways would effectively bypass the enzymatic defect in humans. Note that Neu5Ac and Neu5Gc can also be degraded back to ManNAc and ManNGc. While there are many known interconverting pathways involving ManNAc, the cellular fate of ManNGc is unknown, in human and nonhuman cells. There is also no known pathway for converting Neu5Gc back to Neu5Ac. Hence Neu5Gc tends to recycle and accumulate to high levels in cells that express the hydroxylase (Muchmore et al., 1989). See text for further discussion.

makes it hard to postulate a genetic mechanism to restore its function in malignant cells. Indeed, the complete sequencing of the corresponding intronic regions of the CMAH gene from human and chimpanzee genomes (Irie et al., 1998; Hayakawa et al., 2001) reveals no obvious avenues for such a repair mechanism. Meanwhile, searches of gene databases show no evidence for any related proteins that might have a similar activity. Two other possibilities must therefore be considered to explain the traces of Neu5Gc found in normal human tissues. The first is that there could be an additional completely different biochemical pathway for the biosynthesis of Neu5Gc in mammalian cells. There is so far no strong evidence for such a pathway being active in humans. The suggestion has been made that the glycolyl group of Neu5Gc (which replaces the acetyl group in Neu5Ac) could also originate from an unusual high-energy donor called glycolyl-coenzyme A (CoA). Such a potential donor can in fact be formed via two known biochemical pathways: beta-oxidation of 4-hydroxybutyrate in mitochondria, or from 3-hydroxypyruvate by the action of pyruvate dehydrogenase (Vamecq and Poupaert, 1990; Vamecq et

Animal lectin	Location	Influence of Neu5Gc on binding
Selectins	Blood cells	Not studied carefully; probably no effect
	Endothelium	
Complement factor H	Blood plasma	Not studied
Uterine agglutinin	Endometrium	Enhanced binding
Laminin	Extracellular matrix	Not studied
Sialoadhesin (Siglec-1)	Macrophages	Blocks binding
CD22 (Siglec-2)	B cells	Ac and Gc okay in humans (only Gc in mice)
CD33 (Siglec-3)	Myeloid cells	No effect
MAG (Siglec-4a)	Myelin	Blocks binding
Siglec-5	Mveloid cells	Slight decrease in binding?
Siglec-6	B cells, placenta	No effect?
Siglecs 7–10	Blood cells	Under study
Siglec "11" ¹	Macrophages?	Under study
Siglec-L1	Epithelium	Enhanced binding

TABLE 2. Effects of Neu5Gc vs. Neu5Ac in recognition by intrinsic animal lectins

¹ Our unpublished observations.

al., 1992). The glycolyl-CoA would presumably donate its glycolyl group directed to a de-N-acetylated neuraminic acid (Zhou et al., 1994; Sjoberg et al., 1995; Mitsuoka et al., 1999), or to a potential precursor form of sialic acids called mannosamine. However, there is so far no evidence for the enzymatic activity of such a pathway in human cells. The other interesting possibility is the incorporation of Neu5Gc from dietary sources. Studies of rats fed with radiolabeled sialic acids showed that a large fraction can be absorbed, and while most is excreted unchanged in the urine, a small amount of the label does get incorporated into tissues (Nohle and Schauer, 1981, 1984; Nohle et al., 1982). The latter is thought to occur by intestinal conversion of the ingested sialic acids into the acylmannosamine derivative, which can be taken up into the circulation, absorbed into cells, and converted back into sialic acids (see pathway B in Fig. 5). We are currently studying the possibility that a similar pathway exists in intact humans. If so, it is possible that the traces of Neu5Gc found in normal human tissues are all derived from the ingestion of foods containing Neu5Gc. In this regard, it is of note that sialic acids are only found in animal foods, and that Neu5Gc seems to be very common in pigs, cows, goats, and sheep (Raju et al., 2000; Wang et al., 1990), while probably being much lower in poultry and fish. It remains to be seen whether this pathway has any relevance to diseases associated with the consumption of red meats. There also needs to be a detailed survey of the amounts of Neu5Gc present in common foods of animal origin. Regardless of the mechanism, the question also arises whether there is a weak immune response to these traces of Neu5Gc in adult humans, and if so, what the consequences of such a response might be.

As mentioned above, both direct and indirect studies have indicated that Neu5Gc is present in some human cancerous tissues and possibly in fetuses. These earlier reports used less sensitive methods that failed to detect the traces of Neu5Gc we subsequently noted in normal human tissues. Thus, it is likely that the levels of Neu5Gc present in cancers

are simply higher. The possible explanations presented above for the traces of Neu5Gc in normal tissues can be extended to fetuses and cancers as well, with the added suggestion that these rapidly growing tissues might be more efficient at scavenging Neu5Gc (or its breakdown product N-glycolylmannosamine) from dietary sources. Of course, we still cannot rule out an alternative pathway for the synthesis of Neu5Gc that becomes specifically activated in tumors and fetuses. Regardless of the mechanism(s) involved, the question again arises as to whether the presence of a sugar that is typically immunogenic in humans can in some way affect the outcome of a pregnancy or a malignant disease. Perhaps it will be possible to take advantage of the presence of Neu5Gc on tumors to design some novel approach to the treatment or containment of cancer. Of course, all of these considerations do not apply to cancers in other mammals, since they naturally have large amounts of Neu5Gc to begin with. Thus, the animal model will have to be a mouse with a homozygous "knockout" of its CMAH gene. Such mice are currently being prepared.

Intrinsic functions of sialic acids

It is of great interest to ask if the loss of Neu5Gc in humans resulted in some significant changes in the endogenous functions of sialic acids. Since Neu5Gc has a glycolyl group rather than an acetyl group, it is more hydrophilic, and this could result in changes in the physical or structural functions of sialic acids. However, this possibility and its potential consequences have yet to be investigated. As indicated above, the intrinsic receptors that bind sialic acids within animals have only recently been described, and there may be more to be discovered. Correspondingly, we also know relatively little about the impact of Neu5Gc loss on the functions of these intrinsic sialic-acid receptors in humans.

The limited information available concerning Neu5Gc and intrinsic sialic-acid receptors is summarized in Table 2. The best-studied examples to date are certain members of a family of proteins called the Siglecs (sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectins; Sgroi et al., 1993; Crocker et al., 1994, 1998; Kelm et al., 1994a; Powell and Varki, 1995; Crocker and Feizi, 1996; Crocker and Varki, 2001a,b; Angata et al., 2001). Sialoadhesin (Siglec-1) is a large molecule found on tissue macrophage cells in various organs such as bone marrow, spleen, and lymph nodes. The sialic acid-recognizing function of sialoadhesin has been extensively studied, and it is clear that it binds well to Neu5Ac, but not to Neu5Gc (Brinkman-Van der Linden et al., 2000; Collins et al., 1997a; Kelm et al., 1994b). Thus, human cells (which have an excess of Neu5Ac) have an excess of binding sites for sialoadhesin (Brinkman-Van der Linden et al., 2000). Presumably as a secondary consequence, there is an obvious difference in the tissue distribution of sialoadhesin-positive spleen macrophages between humans and chimpanzees. Also, while only a subset of chimpanzee macrophages are sialoadhesin-positive, most human macrophages express this molecule (Brinkman-Van der Linden et al., 2000). Interestingly, in all the above respects chimpanzee spleens are more similar to those of rats than to humans. The biological significance of these facts will not be known until the functions of sialoadhesin itself are elucidated. Meanwhile, it is interesting to note that sialoadhesin-positive macrophages are found in large numbers in pathological tissue specimens from patients with diseases such as breast cancer (Nath et al., 1999) and rheumatoid arthritis (Hartnell et al., 2001), both of which appear to be rare conditions in the great apes (Varki, 2000). Another Siglec that strongly prefers Neu5Ac over Neu5Gc is myelinassociated glycoprotein (Siglec-4a), which is expressed on Schwann cells and oligodendrocytes, and appears to be involved in organizing and maintaining the myelin sheath that surrounds the axons in the white matter of the brain and the peripheral nerves (Kelm et al., 1994b, 1998; Collins et al., 1997b). Curiously, the brain has very low levels of Neu5Gc, even in nonhuman mammals (see below). Thus, it is presently difficult to make a hypothesis about how the loss of Neu5Gc expression in humans might have affected the function of myelin-associated glycoprotein. Initial evaluation suggests that Siglecs 2, 3, 5, and 6 are probably not affected by the human loss of Neu5Gc (Brinkman-Van der Linden et al., 2000; Collins et al., 1997a; Kelm et al., 1994b, 1998). Further studies are underway to evaluate of some of the newer Siglecs that were recently described.

Of particular interest is a recently discovered human Siglec-like molecule (Siglec-L1) that lacks a conserved amino acid (an arginine residue) which is known to be essential for optimal sialic-acid recognition by previously known Siglecs (Angata et al., 2001). We found that the loss of the arginine residue was caused by a single nucleotide substitution in human genomic DNA that occurred after the common ancestor of humans with the great apes but prior to the common origin of modern humans (An-

gata et al., 2001). The chimpanzee ortholog of Siglec-L1 has the arginine residue, remains fully functional in recognizing sialic acids, and turns out to preferentially recognize Neu5Gc over Neu5Ac. Reintroducing the ancestral arginine by "repairing" the cloned human molecule regenerated sialic acid binding, along with a similar preference for Neu5Gc (Angata et al., 2001). Thus, the single base-pair mutation that replaced the arginine residue on human Siglec-L1 seems likely to be evolutionarily related to the loss of Neu5Gc expression in the human lineage. However, we do not know which came first, and how exactly the two events are related. In the course of doing this work, we also examined the whole human genome for other Siglec-like genes. It turns out that the human genome contains many Siglec-like pseudogenes (currently inactive components of the genome derived from ancestral active genes). Interestingly, some of these pseudogenes have independent mutations that would have replaced the same conserved arginine residue that is required for optimal sialic acid recognition. Much further work needs to be done to know if any of these pseudogenes are derived from genes that are still active in other primates. Regardless, this work indicates that additional changes in the biology of sialic acids may have taken place during human evolution.

The consequence of Neu5Gc loss for most of the other known mammalian sialic acid-recognizing lectins is also not very clear (see Table 2), and further studies are needed. An intriguing case is that of a sialic acid-binding uterine agglutinin that was purified from the endometrium (the epithelial lining of the uterus) of both humans and rats, and that was shown to prefer Neu5Gc over Neu5Ac (Chatterji et al., 2000). It was also shown to recognize sialic acids on sperm. While the functions of this molecule are unknown, one can speculate that its preference for Neu5Gc might somehow be connected to anecdotal suggestions of differences between humans and great apes in matters such as menstrual blood loss and early fetal wastage (Varki, 2000).

Implications for biotechnology and xenotransplantation

As mentioned above, a normal adult human directly exposed to Neu5Gc in the form of infused horse serum generates an immune response against this foreign sugar. Biotherapeutic molecules produced via recombinant DNA technology are typically produced in nonhuman cells, because human cells may allow transmission of human retroviruses and other infectious agents. As many of these products are glycoproteins, they can contain varying amounts of Neu5Gc originating from the nonhuman producer cells used. Fortunately, most of the animal cell lines commonly used to produce such agents (e.g., Chinese hamster ovary cells and baby hamster kidney cells) happen to produce very low levels of Neu5Gc. Furthermore, although erythropoietin (produced by Amgen) was later recognized to have very small

Varki]

amounts of Neu5Gc (Hokke et al., 1995), microgram amounts of this therapeutic glycoprotein had already been injected repeatedly into many humans, without apparent evidence of an obvious immune reaction (Noguchi et al., 1996). It is possible that the immune system of most humans is partially tolerized to Neu5Gc because of prior exposure to dietary Neu5Gc. If so, the reaction might be dose-dependent, and there should still be concern over recently developed products from the milk of sheep and goats which have very high levels of Neu5Gc (Gagneux and Varki, unpublished findings). Another possible explanation for the lack of immune response to Neu5Gc on erythropoietin is that the primary antigens in horse serum are glycolipids (not glycoproteins) bearing Neu5Gc. Thus, there may be a lesser immune response to Neu5Gc on glycoprotein therapeutic agents. However, Neu5Gc injected in the form of glycoproteins could be directly taken up by human cells via pathway A of Figure 6, and eventually presented on the patient's own cell surfaces, attached to endogenously synthesized glycolipids. This could result in an immune response developing over time. This concern remains unresolved at the present time.

Similar considerations apply to the currently controversial attempts to transplant organs from other species into humans. All early attempts at such xenotransplantation of organs from other primates to humans failed for unknown reasons. These included attempts to transplant chimpanzee kidneys into humans (Deodhar, 1986; Reemtsma, 1989) which would nowadays be considered unethical. Rejections of the transplanted organs were typically delayed by several weeks, and the mechanism of rejection remained obscure. If posttransplant serum from such patients had been saved, one could have determined if at least part of the rejection response was directed against Neu5Gc. Regardless, it should be noted that the most popular model animal for xenotransplantation of organs into humans is currently the pig, which happens to be a species that expresses high levels of Neu5Gc in many tissues. No attention has yet been paid (in the published literature) to the potential for delayed immune response to Neu5Gc on such transplanted animal organs. It remains to be seen if this will pose a significant barrier to xenotransplantation.

Implications for the human brain

As indicated above, Neu5Gc is common in tissues of nonhuman mammals and is the major sialic acid in most organs and cell types of the great apes. In striking contrast to this situation, Neu5Gc is hard to find in the brains of these animals. Indeed, early studies suggested that Neu5Gc was completely absent from the mammalian brain (Gottschalk, 1960; Rosenberg and Schengrund, 1976; Schauer, 1982), and it was only subsequent analyses with more sensitive techniques that showed that there were small but clearly detectable amounts present (Tettamanti

et al., 1965; Nakao et al., 1991; Mikami et al., 1998; Muchmore et al., 1998). The mechanism for this differential expression in nonhuman animals appears to be the downregulation of CMAH gene expression in the brain. This represents a rather rare example of a gene that is widely expressed in many tissues and yet selectively downregulated only in the brain. The fact that this unusual situation has been conserved throughout mammalian evolution suggests that there is a strong selection pressure in its favor. In other words, there must be some reason why the mammalian brain has restricted its Neu5Gc content for >100 million years of evolution. In humans, of course, the last traces of Neu5Gc are eliminated from the brain by virtue of the genomic inactivation of the CMAH gene. A tantalizing possibility is that some significant positive consequence of this change for the human brain offset any negative consequences in other human organs. However, there is at present no direct evidence to support this hypothesis. Studies are currently underway in our laboratory to investigate the consequences of eliminating or overexpressing Neu5Gc in the brains of genetically modified mice. Of course, the difference between a mouse and a human brain is much greater than the difference between a great ape and a human brain. Thus, these experiments in mice may or may not provide final answers concerning this issue. On the other hand, genetic manipulation of the germline of humans or apes would be considered highly unethical. If the mouse experiments do not yield clear evidence, we may have to seek indirect clues towards understanding the implications of CMAH loss for the evolution of the human brain.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Reviewed here is a genetic, biochemical, and structural difference between human and great ape cells that has potential implications for a wide variety of issues related to human evolution, physiology, and pathology. The nature of the genetic mutation, their universality in modern humans, and its direct biochemical consequences to human cells and tissues are clear. There is also good evidence that it can affect the susceptibility or resistance of humans to certain pathogens. Circumstantial evidence is consistent with the possibility of human incorporation of traces of Neu5Gc from dietary origins. In addition, limited data show the effects of human Neu5Gc loss on cells of the human immune system such as macrophages. Finally, the universal and selective suppression of Neu5Gc expression in mammalian brains raises the possibility that the human loss of Neu5Gc had some beneficial effects in human brain evolution.

However, we have at present many more questions than answers. For example, when did this mutation first occur, and when did it become fixed as a universal feature of human ancestors? Are there other consequences for infection risk or resistance in humans? What are the functional consequences for the intrinsic human sialic-acid receptors whose Neu5Gc preference has vet to be explored? Do the traces of Neu5Gc found in normal humans indeed come from dietary sources? If so, are there any pathological consequences to the human ingestion of Neu5Gc in foods of animal origin? Is the mechanism of Neu5Gc reexpression in tumors and fetuses simply an exaggeration of what happens in normal tissues? Or is there another biochemical pathway that becomes activated in these situations? Does it matter that animal organs intended for xenotransplantation and certain biotechnology therapeutics produced in animal cells can be quite rich in Neu5Gc? And last but not least, what are the consequences, if any, for the evolution and function of the human brain? Much diligent work by many investigators will be needed to answer these questions.

On a more general note, the discovery of a major biochemical and structural difference between humans and great apes and the elucidation of its underlying genetic basis tend to raise hopes that this molecular change played a major role in the evolution of uniquely human characteristics. Indeed, this is the issue likely to be of particular interest to the readership of this Journal. However, the fact that this happens to be the first such difference recognized should not be taken as any indication of its relative significance in human evolution. It is indeed possible that this genetic change came under strong positive selection pressure because it contributed towards the evolution of organs like the human brain. On the other hand, it may have simply aided in the ability of humans to evade certain pathogens of animal origin. A less likely possibility is that this gene inactivation was a fortuitous event that simply drifted to fixation in the immediate ancestors of modern humans, because of a population bottleneck caused by other unrelated factors. Further studies will eventually elucidate which of these possibilities is correct.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author thanks Nissi Varki, Elaine Muchmore, Pascal Gagneux, Kurt Benirschke, Jim Moore, Margaret Schoeninger, Chris Ruff, and two anonymous reviewers for very helpful comments.

LITERATURE CITED

- Ando N, Yamakawa T. 1982. On the minor gangliosides of erythrocyte membranes of Japanese cats. J Biochem (Tokyo) 91:873– 881.
- Andrews GA, Chavey PS, Smith JE, Rich L. 1992. N-glycolylneuraminic acid and N-acetylneuraminic acid define feline blood group A and B antigens. Blood 79:2485–2491.
- Angata T, Varki A. 2001. Chemical diversity in the sialic acids and related alpha-keto acids: an evolutionary perspective. Chem Rev (in press).
- Angata T, Varki NM, Varki A. 2001. A second uniquely human mutation affecting sialic acid biology. J Biol Chem 276:40282– 40287.
- Bevilacqua MP, Nelson RM. 1993. Selectins. J Clin Invest 91: 379–387.
- Bouhours J-F, Bouhours D. 1989. Hydroxylation of CMP-NeuAc controls the expression of N-glycolylneuraminic acid in G_{M3}

ganglioside of the small intestine of inbred rats. J Biol Chem 264:16992–16999.

- Bozue JA, Tullius MV, Wang J, Gibson BW, Munson RS Jr. 1999. Haemophilus ducreyi produces a novel sialyltransferase—identification of the sialyltransferase gene and construction of mutants deficient in the production of the sialic acid-containing glycoform of the lipooligosaccharide. J Biol Chem 274:4106– 4114.
- Brinkman-Van der Linden ECM, Sjoberg ER, Juneja LR, Crocker PR, Varki N, Varki A. 2000. Loss of N-glycolylneuraminic acid in human evolution—implications for sialic acid recognition by siglecs. J Biol Chem 275:8633–8640.
- Caccone A, Powell JR. 1989. DNA divergences among hominids. Evolution 43:925–942.
- Chatterji U, Sen AK, Schauer R, Chowdhury M. 2000. Paracrine effects of a uterine agglutinin are mediated via the sialic acids present in the rat uterine endometrium. Mol Cell Biochem 215:47-55.
- Chen FC, Li WH. 2001. Genomic divergences between humans and other hominoids and the effective population size of the common ancestor of humans and chimpanzees. Am J Hum Genet 68:444-456.
- Chou HH, Takematsu H, Diaz S, Iber J, Nickerson E, Wright KL, Muchmore EA, Nelson DL, Warren ST, Varki A. 1998. A mutation in human CMP-sialic acid hydroxylase occurred after the *Homo-Pan* divergence. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:11751–11756.
- Collins BE, Kiso M, Hasegawa A, Tropak MB, Roder JC, Crocker PR, Schnaar RL. 1997a. Binding specificities of the sialoadhesin family of I-type lectins—sialic acid linkage and substructure requirements for binding of myelin-associated glycoprotein, Schwann cell myelin protein, and sialoadhesin. J Biol Chem 272:16889-16895.
- Collins BE, Yang LJS, Mukhopadhyay G, Filbin MT, Kiso M, Hasegawa A, Schnaar RL. 1997b. Sialic acid specificity of myelin-associated glycoprotein binding. J Biol Chem 272:1248– 1255.
- Crocker PR, Feizi T. 1996. Carbohydrate recognition systems: Functional triads in cell-cell interactions. Curr Opin Struct Biol 6:679–691.
- Crocker PR, Varki A. 2001a. Siglecs, sialic acids and innate immunity. Trends Immunol 22:337–342.
- Crocker PR, Varki A. 2001b. Siglecs in the Immune system. Immunology 103:137–145.
- Crocker PR, Mucklow S, Bouckson V, McWilliam A, Willis AC, Gordon S, Milon G, Kelm S, Bradfield P. 1994. Sialoadhesin, a macrophage sialic acid binding receptor for haemopoietic cells with 17 immunoglobulin-like domains. EMBO J 13:4490-4503.
- Crocker PR, Clark EA, Filbin M, Gordon S, Jones Y, Kehrl JH, Kelm S, Le Douarin N, Powell L, Roder J, Schnaar RL, Sgroi DC, Stamenkovic K, Schauer R, Schachner M, Van den Berg TK, Van der Merwe PA, Watt SM, Varki A. 1998. Siglecs: a family of sialic-acid binding lectins [letter]. Glycobiology 8:v.
- Delorme C, Brüssow H, Sidoti J, Roche N, Karlsson KA, Neeser JR, Teneberg S. 2001. Glycosphingolipid binding specificities of rotavirus: Identification of a sialic acid-binding epitope. J Virol 75:2276–2287.
- DeLuca GM, Donnell ME, Carrigan DJ, Blackall DP. 1996. Plasmodium falciparum merozoite adhesion is mediated by sialic acid. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 225:726-732.
- Deodhar SD. 1986. Review of xenografts in organ transplantation. Transplant Proc 18:83–87.
- Devine PL, Clark BA, Birrell GW, Layton GT, Ward BG, Alewood PF, McKenzie IFC. 1991. The breast tumor-associated epitope defined by monoclonal antibody 3E1.2 is an O-linked mucin carbohydrate containing N-glycolylneuraminic acid. Cancer Res 51:5826-5836.
- Escalante AA, Ayala FJ. 1994. Phylogeny of the malarial genus *Plasmodium*, derived from rRNA gene sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:11373–11377.
- Escalante AA, Barrio E, Ayala FJ. 1995. Evolutionary origin of human and primate malarias: evidence from the circumsporozoite protein gene. Mol Biol Evol 12:616–626.
- Freeze HH. 1999. Human glycosylation disorders and sugar supplement therapy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 255:189–193.

Varki]

- Fujii Y, Higashi H, Ikuta K, Kato S, Naiki M. 1982. Specificities of human heterophilic Hanganutziu and Deicher (H-D) antibodies and avian antisera against H-D antigen-active glycosphingolipids. Mol Immunol 19:87–94.
- Furukawa K, Chait BT, Lloyd KO. 1988a. Identification of Nglycolylneuraminic acid-containing gangliosides of cat and sheep erythrocytes. ²⁵²Cf fission fragment ionization mass spectrometry in the analysis of glycosphingolipids. J Biol Chem 263:14939–14947.
- Furukawa K, Yamaguchi H, Oettgen HF, Old LJ, Lloyd KO. 1988b. Analysis of the expression of N-glycolylneuraminic acidcontaining gangliosides in cells and tissues using two human monoclonal antibodies. J Biol Chem 263:18507–18512.
- Gagneux P, Varki A. 1999. Evolutionary considerations in relating oligosaccharide diversity to biological function. Glycobiology 9:747-755.
- Gagneux P, Varki A. 2001. Genetic differences between humans and great apes. Mol Phylogenet Evol 18:2–13.
- Gagneux P, Wills C, Gerloff U, Tautz D, Morin PA, Boesch C, Fruth B, Hohmann G, Ryder OA, Woodruff DS. 1999. Mitochondrial sequences show diverse evolutionary histories of African hominoids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:5077–5082.
- Goodman M, Bailey WJ, Hayasaka K, Stanhope MJ, Slightom J, Czelusniak J. 1994. Molecular evidence on primate phylogeny from DNA sequences. Am J Phys Anthropol 94:3–24.
- Gottschalk A. 1960. The chemistry and biology of sialic acids and related substances. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Greenwood AD, Capelli C, Possnert G, Paabo S. 1999. Nuclear DNA sequences from late Pleistocene megafauna. Mol Biol Evol 16:1466–1473.
- Hartnell A, Steel J, Turley H, Jones M, Jackson DG, Crocker PR. 2001. Characterization of human sialoadhesin, a sialic acid binding receptor expressed by resident and inflammatory macrophage populations. Blood 97:288–296.
- Hashimoto Y, Yamakawa T, Tanabe Y. 1984. Further studies on the red cell glycolipids of various breeds of dogs. A possible assumption about the origin of Japanese dogs. J Biochem (Tokyo) 96:1777–1782.
- Hayakawa T, Satta Y, Gagneux P, Varki A, Takahata N. 2001. Alu-mediated inactivation of the human CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:11399-11404.
- Hennet T, Chui D, Paulson JC, Marth JD. 1998. Immune regulation by the ST6Gal sialyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:4504-4509.
- Higa HH, Paulson JC. 1985. Sialylation of glycoprotein oligosaccharides with N-acetyl-, N-glycolyl-, and N-O-diacetylneuraminic acids. J Biol Chem 260:8838–8849.
- Higa HH, Rogers GN, Paulson JC. 1985. Influenza virus hemagglutinins differentiate between receptor determinants bearing N-acetyl-, N-glycolyl-, and N,O-diacetylneuraminic acids. Virology 144:279–282.
- Higashi H, Naiki M, Matuo S, Okouchi K. 1977. Antigen of "serum sickness" type of heterophile antibodies in human sera: indentification as gangliosides with N-glycolylneuraminic acid. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 79:388–395.
- Higashi H, Nishi Y, Fukui Y, Ikuta K, Ueda S, Kato S, Fujita M, Nakano Y, Taguchi T, Sakai S. 1984. Tumor-associated expression of glycosphingolipid Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen in human cancers. Gann 75:1025–1029.
- Higashi H, Sasabe T, Fukui Y, Maru M, Kato S. 1988. Detection of gangliosides as N-glycolylneuraminic acid-specific tumorassociated Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen in human retinoblastoma cells. Jpn J Cancer Res 79:952–956.
- Hirabayashi Y, Higashi H, Kato S, Taniguchi M, Matsumoto M. 1987a. Occurrence of tumor-associated ganglioside antigens with Hanganutziu-Deicher antigenic activity on human melanomas. Jpn J Cancer Res 78:614–620.
- Hirabayashi Y, Kasakura H, Matsumoto M, Higashi H, Kato S, Kasai N, Naiki M. 1987b. Specific expression of unusual GM2 ganglioside with Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen activity on human colon cancers. Jpn J Cancer Res 78:251–260.
- Hofreiter M, Serre D, Poinar HN, Kuch M, Paabo S. 2001. Ancient DNA. Nat Rev Genet 2:353–359.

- Hokke CH, Bergwerff AA, Van Dedem GWK, Kamerling JP, Vliegenthart JFG. 1995. Structural analysis of the sialylated N- and O-linked carbohydrate chains of recombinant human erythropoietin expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells—sialylation patterns and branch location of dimeric N-acetyllactosamine units. Eur J Biochem 228:981–1008.
- Ikuta K, Nishi Y, Shimizu Y, Higashi H, Kitamoto N, Kato S, Fujita M, Nakano Y, Taguchi T, Naiki M. 1982. Hanganutziu-Deicher type-heterophile antigen-positive cells in human cancer tissues demonstrated by membrane immunofluorescence. Biken J 25:47–50.
- Inoue S, Kitajima K, Inoue Y. 1996. Identification of 2-keto-3deoxy-D-glycero-D-galactonononic acid (KDN, deaminoneuraminic acid) residues in mammalian tissues and human lung carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 271:24341–24344.
- Irie A, Koyama S, Kozutsumi Y, Kawasaki T, Suzuki A. 1998. The molecular basis for the absence of N-glycolylneuraminic acid in humans. J Biol Chem 273:15866–15871.
- Ito T, Kawaoka Y. 2000. Host-range barrier of influenza A viruses. Vet Microbiol 74:71–75.
- Ito T, Suzuki Y, Mitnaul L, Vines A, Kida H, Kawaoka Y. 1997. Receptor specificity of influenza A viruses correlates with the agglutination of erythrocytes from different animal species. Virology 227:493–499.
- Ito T, Suzuki Y, Suzuki T, Takda A, Horimoto T, Wells K, Kida H, Otsuki K, Kiso M, Ishida H, Kawaoka Y. 2000. Recognition of *N*-glycolylneuraminic acid linked to galactose by the α 2,3 linkage is associated with intestinal replication of influenza A virus in ducks. J Virol 74:9300–9305.
- Kaessmann H, Wiebe V, Weiss G, Paabo S. 2001. Great ape DNA sequences reveal a reduced diversity and an expansion in humans. Nat Genet 27:155–156.
- Kansas GS. 1996. Selectins and their ligands: current concepts and controversies. Blood 88:3259–3287.
- Karlsson KA. 1998. Meaning and therapeutic potential of microbial recognition of host glycoconjugates. Mol Microbiol 29:1–11.
- Karlsson KA. 2000. The human gastric colonizer *Helicobacter* pylori: a challenge for host-parasite glycobiology. Glycobiology 10:761–771.
- Kasukawa R, Kano K, Bloom ML, Milgrom F. 1976. Heterophile antibodies in pathologic human sera resembling antibodies stimulated by foreign species sera. Clin Exp Immunol 25:122– 132.
- Kawachi S, Saida T. 1992. Analysis of the expression of Hanganutziu-Deicher (HD) antigen in human malignant melanoma. J Dermatol 19:827–830.
- Kawai T, Kato A, Higashi H, Kato S, Naiki M. 1991. Quantitative determination of N-glycolylneuraminic acid expression in human cancerous tissues and avian lymphoma cell lines as a tumor-associated sialic acid by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Cancer Res 51:1242–1246.
- Kawano T, Koyama S, Takematsu H, Kozutsumi Y, Kawasaki H, Kawashima S, Kawasaki T, Suzuki A. 1995. Molecular cloning of cytidine monophospho-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase. Regulation of species- and tissue-specific expression of N-glycolylneuraminic acid. J Biol Chem 270:16458–16463.
- Kelm S, Schauer R. 1997. Sialic acids in molecular and cellular interactions. Int Rev Cytol 175:137–240.
- Kelm S, Pelz A, Schauer R, Filbin MT, Tang S, De Bellard M-E, Schnaar RL, Mahoney JA, Hartnell A, Bradfield P, Crocker PR. 1994a. Sialoadhesin, myelin-associated glycoprotein and CD22 define a new family of sialic acid-dependent adhesion molecules of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Curr Biol 4:965–972.
- Kelm S, Schauer R, Manuguerra J-C, Gross H-J, Crocker PR. 1994b. Modifications of cell surface sialic acids modulate cell adhesion mediated by sialoadhesin and CD22. Glycoconjugate J 11:576–585.
- Kelm S, Brossmer R, Isecke R, Gross HJ, Strenge K, Schauer R. 1998. Functional groups of sialic acids involved in binding to siglecs (sialoadhesins) deduced from interactions with synthetic analogues. Eur J Biochem 255:663-672.
- King MC, Wilson AC. 1975. Evolution at two levels in humans and chimpanzees. Science 188:107–116.

- Klotz FW, Orlandi PA, Reuter G, Cohen SJ, Haynes JD, Schauer R, Howard RJ, Palese P, Miller LH. 1992. Binding of *Plasmodium falciparum* 175-kilodalton erythrocyte binding antigen and invasion of murine erythrocytes requires *N*-acetylneuraminic acid but not its *O*-acetylated form. Mol Biochem Parasitol 51:49–54.
- Kozutsumi Y, Kawano T, Yamakawa T, Suzuki A. 1990. Participation of cytochrome b_5 in CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylation in mouse liver cytosol. J Biochem (Tokyo) 108:704–706.
- Krings M, Stone A, Schmitz RW, Krainitzki H, Stoneking M, Paabo S. 1997. Neandertal DNA sequences and the origin of modern humans. Cell 90:19–30.
- Kyogashima M, Ginsburg V, Krivan HC. 1989. Escherichia coli K99 binds to N-glycolylsialoparagloboside and N-glycolyl-GM3 found in piglet small intestine. Arch Biochem Biophys 270:391– 397.
- Lander ES, et al. 2001. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409:860–921.
- Lanne B, Uggla L, Stenhagen G, Karlsson K-A. 1995. Enhanced binding of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* K99 to amide derivatives of the receptor ganglioside NeuGc-GM3. Biochemistry 34:1845–1850.
- Lepers A, Shaw L, Cacan R, Schauer R, Montreuil J, Verbert A. 1989. Transport of CMP-N-glycoloylneuraminic acid into mouse liver Golgi vesicles. FEBS Lett 250:245-250.
- Malykh YN, Schauer R. 2001. N-glycolylneuraminic acid in tumors. Biochimie 83:623–634.
- Marquina G, Waki H, Fernandez LE, Kon K, Carr A, Valiente O, Perez R, Ando S. 1996. Gangliosides expressed in human breast cancer. Cancer Res 56:5165–5171.
- McConkey EH, Goodman M. 1997. A Human Genome Evolution Project is needed [letter]. Trends Genet 13:350-351.
- McConkey EH, Varki A. 2000. A primate Genome Project deserves high priority. Science 289:1295–1296.
- McConkey EH, Fouts R, Goodman M, Nelson D, Penny D, Ruvolo M, Sikela J, Stewart CB, Varki A, Wise S. 2000. Proposal for a Human Genome Evolution Project. Mol Phylogenet Evol 15: 1-4.
- Merrick JM, Zadarlik K, Milgrom F. 1978. Characterization of the Hanganutziu-Deicher (serum-sickness) antigen as gangliosides containing N-glycolylneuraminic acid. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 57:477–480.
- Mikami T, Kashiwagi M, Tsuchihashi K, Daino T, Akino T, Gasa S. 1998. Further characterization of equine brain gangliosides: the presence of GM3 having N-glycolyl neuraminic acid in the central nervous system. J Biochem (Tokyo) 123:487–491.
- Mitsuoka C, Ohmori K, Kimura N, Kanamori A, Komba S, Ishida H, Kiso M, Kannagi R. 1999. Regulation of selectin binding activity by cyclization of sialic acid moiety of carbohydrate ligands on human leukocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 1597–1602.
- Morito T, Kano K, Milgrom F. 1982. Hanganutziu-Deicher antibodies in infectious mononucleosis and other diseases. J Immunol 129:2524–2528.
- Morito T, Nishimaki T, Masaki M, Yoshida H, Kasukawa R, Nakarai H, Kano K. 1986. Studies on Hanganutziu-Deicher antigens-antibodies. I. Hanganutziu-Deicher antibodies of IgG class in liver diseases. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 81:204– 208.
- Muchmore EA, Milewski M, Varki A, Diaz S. 1989. Biosynthesis of N-glycolyneuraminic acid. The primary site of hydroxylation of N-acetylneuraminic acid is the cytosolic sugar nucleotide pool. J Biol Chem 264:20216–20223.
- Muchmore EA, Diaz S, Varki A. 1998. A structural difference between the cell surfaces of humans and the great apes. Am J Phys Anthropol 107:187–198.
- Nakao T, Kon K, Ando S, Hirabayashi Y. 1991. A NeuGc-containing trisialoganglioside of bovine brain. Biochim Biophys Acta Lipids Lipid Metab 1086:305–309.
- Nakarai H, Saida T, Shibata Y, Irie RF, Kano K. 1987. Expression of heterophile, Paul-Bunnell and Hanganutziu-Deicher antigens on human melanoma cell lines. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 83:160–166.

- Nath D, Hartnell A, Happerfield L, Miles DW, Burchell J, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Crocker PR. 1999. Macrophage-tumour cell interactions: identification of MUC1 on breast cancer cells as a potential counter-receptor for the macrophage-restricted receptor, sialoadhesin. Immunology 98:213–219.
- Nishimaki T, Kano K, Milgrom F. 1979. Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen and antibody in pathologic sera and tissues. J Immunol 122:2314–2318.
- Noguchi A, Mukuria CJ, Suzuki E, Naiki M. 1996. Failure of human immunoresponse to N-glycolylneuraminic acid epitope contained in recombinant human erythropoietin. Nephron 72: 599–603.
- Nohle U, Schauer R. 1981. Uptake, metabolism and excretion of orally and intravenously administered, 14C- and 3H-labeled N-acetylneuraminic acid mixture in the mouse and rat. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem 362:1495–1506.
- Nohle U, Schauer R. 1984. Metabolism of sialic acids from exogenously administered sialyllactose and mucin in mouse and rat. Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem 365:1457–1467.
- Nohle U, Beau JM, Schauer R. 1982. Uptake, metabolism and excretion of orally and intravenously administered, doublelabeled N-glycoloylneuraminic acid and single-labeled 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-acetylneuraminic acid in mouse and rat. Eur J Biochem 126:543–548.
- Ohashi Y, Sasabe T, Nishida T, Nishi Y, Higashi H. 1983. Hanganutziu-Deicher heterophile antigen in human retinoblastoma cells. Am J Ophthalmol 96:321–325.
- Ollomo B, Karch S, Bureau P, Elissa N, Georges AJ, Millet P. 1997. Lack of malaria parasite transmission between apes and humans in Gabon. Am J Trop Med Hyg 56:440-445.
- Ouadia A, Karamanos Y, Julien R. 1992. Detection of the ganglioside N-glycolyl-neuraminyl-lactosyl-ceramide by biotinylated Escherichia coli K99 lectin. Glycoconjugate J 9:21–26.
- Powell LD, Varki A. 1995. I-type lectins. J Biol Chem 270:14243– 14246.
- Priatel JJ, Chui D, Hiraoka N, Simmons CJT, Richardson KB, Page DM, Fukuda M, Varki NM, Marth JD. 2000. The ST3Gal-I sialyltransferase controls CD8⁺ T lymphocyte homeostasis by modulating O-glycan biosynthesis. Immunity 12: 273–283.
- Qari SH, Shi YP, Pieniazek NJ, Collins WE, Lal AA. 1996. Phylogenetic relationship among the malaria parasites based on small subunit rRNA gene sequences: monophyletic nature of the human malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. Mol Phylogenet Evol 6:157–165.
- Rademacher TW, Parekh RB, Dwek RA. 1988. Glycobiology. Annu Rev Biochem 57:785-838.
- Raju TS, Briggs JB, Borge SM, Jones AJS. 2000. Species-specific variation in glycosylation of IgG: evidence for the species-specific sialylation and branch-specific galactosylation and importance for engineering recombinant glycoprotein therapeutics. Glycobiology 10:477–486.
- Reed MB, Caruana SR, Batchelor AH, Thompson JK, Crabb BS, Cowman AF. 2000. Targeted disruption of an erythrocyte binding antigen in *Plasmodium falciparum* is associated with a switch toward a sialic acid-independent pathway of invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:7509–7514.
- Reemtsma K. 1989. Xenografts. Transplant Proc 21:517-518.
- Rosenberg A, Schengrund C. 1976. Biological roles of sialic acids. New York and London: Plenum Press. p 295–359.
- Rutishauser U, Landmesser L. 1996. Polysialic acid in the vertebrate nervous system: a promoter of plasticity in cell-cell interactions. Trends Neurosci 19:422–427.
- Ruvolo M. 1997. Molecular phylogeny of the hominoids: inferences from multiple independent DNA sequence data sets. Mol Biol Evol 14:248–265.
- Saida T, Ikegawa S, Takizawa Y, Kawachi S. 1990. Immunohistochemical detection of heterophile Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen in human malignant melanoma. Arch Dermatol Res 282: 179–182.
- Sandvig K, Prydz K, Ryd M, van Deurs B. 1991. Endocytosis and intracellular transport of the glycolipid-binding ligand shiga toxin in polarized MDCK cells. J Cell Biol 113:553–562.

Varki]

- Schauer R. 1982. Sialic acids: chemistry, metabolism and function, cell biology monographs, volume 10. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Schlenzka W, Shaw L, Kelm S, Schmidt CL, Bill E, Trautwein AX, Lottspeich F, Schauer R. 1996. CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase: the first cytosolic Rieske iron-sulphur protein to be described in Eukarya. FEBS Lett 385:197–200.
- Schwegmann C, Zimmer G, Yoshino T, Enss ML, Herrler G. 2001. Comparison of the sialic acid binding activity of transmissible gastroenteritis coronavirus and *E-coli* K99. Virus Res 75:69– 73.
- Sgroi D, Varki A, Braesch-Andersen S, Stamenkovic I. 1993. CD22, a B cell-specific immunoglobulin superfamily member, is a sialic acid-binding lectin. J Biol Chem 268:7011–7018.
- Sharon N. 1996. Carbohydrate-lectin interactions in infectious disease. Adv Exp Med Biol 408:1–8.
- Shaw L, Schauer R. 1988. The biosynthesis of N-glycoloylneuraminic acid occurs by hydroxylation of the CMP-glycoside of N-acetylneuraminic acid. Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 369:477– 486.
- Shaw L, Schneckenburger P, Carlsen J, Christiansen K, Schauer R. 1992. Mouse liver cytidine-5'-monophosphate-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase—catalytic function and regulation. Eur J Biochem 206:269–277.
- Shaw L, Schneckenburger P, Schlenzka W, Carlsen J, Christiansen K, Jürgensen D, Schauer R. 1994. CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylase from mouse liver and pig submandibular glands—interaction with membrane-bound and soluble cytochrome b_5 -dependent electron transport chains. Eur J Biochem 219:1001–1011.
- Sibley CG, Ahlquist JE. 1987. DNA hybridization evidence of hominoid phylogeny: results from an expanded data set. J Mol Evol 26:99–121.
- Sjoberg ER, Chammas R, Ozawa H, Kawashima I, Khoo K-H, Morris HR, Dell A, Tai T, Varki A. 1995. Expression of de-*N*acetyl-gangliosides in human melanoma cells is induced by genistein or nocodazole. J Biol Chem 270:2921–2930.
- Smith CI, Chamberlain AT, Riley MS, Cooper A, Stringer CB, Collins MJ. 2001. Neanderthal DNA. Not just old but old and cold? Nature 410:771-772.
- Stacker SA, Thompson C, Riglar C, McKenzie IF. 1985. A new breast carcinoma antigen defined by a monoclonal antibody. J Natl Cancer Inst 75:801–811.
- Suzuki T, Horiike G, Yamazaki Y, Kawabe K, Masuda H, Miyamoto D, Matsuda M, Nishimura SI, Yamagata T, Ito T, Kida H, Kawaoka Y, Suzuki Y. 1997. Swine influenza virus strains recognize sialylsugar chains containing the molecular species of sialic acid predominantly present in the swine tracheal epithelium. FEBS Lett 404:192–196.
- Suzuki Y, Nagao Y, Kato H, Matsumoto M, Nerome K, Nakajima K, Nobusawa E. 1986. Human influenza A virus hemagglutinin distinguishes sialyloligosaccharides in membrane-associated gangliosides as its receptor which mediates the adsorption and fusion processes of virus infection. Specificity for oligosaccharides and sialic acids and the sequence to which sialic acid is attached. J Biol Chem 261:17057–17061.
- Takahata N, Satta Y. 1997. Evolution of the primate lineage leading to modern humans: phylogenetic and demographic inferences from DNA sequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 4811–4815.
- Takematsu H, Kawano T, Koyama S, Kozutsumi Y, Suzuki A, Kawasaki T. 1994. Reaction mechanism underlying CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid hydroxylation in mouse liver: Formation of a ternary complex of cytochrome b_5 , CMP-N-acetylneuraminic acid, and a hydroxylation enzyme. J Biochem (Tokyo) 115:381–386.
- Takiguchi M, Tamura T, Goto M, Kusakawa S, Milgrom F, Kano K. 1984. Immunological studies on Kawasaki disease. I. Appearance of Hanganutziu-Deicher antibodies. Clin Exp Immunol 56:345–352.
- Taubenberger JK, Reid AH, Fanning TG. 2000. The 1918 influenza virus: a killer comes into view. Virology 274:241–245.
- Tettamanti G, Bertona L, Berra B, Zambotti V. 1965. Glycolylneuraminic acid in ox brain gangliosides. Nature 206:192.

- Traving C, Schauer R. 1998. Structure, function and metabolism of sialic acids. Cell Mol Life Sci 54:1330–1349.
- Troy FA II. 1992. Polysialylation: from bacteria to brains. Glycobiology 2:5–23.
- Tsuji S, Datta AK, Paulson JC. 1996. Systematic nomenclature for sialyltransferases. Glycobiology 6:V-VII.
- Vamecq J, Poupaert JH. 1990. Studies on the metabolism of glycolyl-CoA. Biochem Cell Biol 68:846-851.
- Vamecq J, Mestdagh N, Henichart J-P, Poupaert J. 1992. Subcellular distribution of glycolyltransferases in rodent liver and their significance in special reference to the synthesis of Nglycolylneuraminic acid. J Biochem (Tokyo) 111:579–583.
- Varki A. 1992. Diversity in the sialic acids. Glycobiology 2:25–40.
 Varki A. 1994. Selectin ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:7390– 7397.
- Varki A. 1997. Sialic acids as ligands in recognition phenomena. FASEB J 11:248–255.
- Varki A. 1998. Factors controlling the glycosylation potential of the Golgi apparatus. Trends Cell Biol 8:34–40.
- Varki A. 1999a. Historical background and overview. In: Varki A, Esko JD, Cummings R, Freeze HH, Hart GW, Marth J, editors. Essentials of glycobiology. Plainview, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. p 1–16.
- Varki A. 1999b. Sialic acids. In: Varki A, Esko JD, Cummings R, Freeze HH, Hart GW, Marth J, editors. Essentials of glycobiology. Plainview, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. p 195–210.
- Varki A. 2000. A chimpanzee genome project is a biomedical imperative. Genome Res 10:1065–1070.
- Varki A, Marth J. 1995. Oligosaccharides in vertebrate development. Semin Dev Biol 6:127–138.
- Venter JC, et al. 2001. The sequence of the human genome. Science 291:1304-1351.
- Verheijen FW, Verbeek E, Aula N, Beerens CEMT, Havelaar AC, Joosse M, Peltonen L, Aula P, Galjaard H, Van der Spek PJ, Mancini GMS. 1999. A new gene, encoding an anion transporter, is mutated in sialic acid storage diseases. Nat Genet 23:462-465.
- Wang DQ, Fukui Y, Ito T, Nakajima K, Kato S, Naiki M, Kurimura T, Wakamiya N. 1990. Heterogeneity of Hanganutziu-Deicher antigen glycoproteins in different species animal sera. Nippon Juigaku Zasshi 52:567–572.
- Warren L. 1963. The distribution of sialic acids in nature. Comp Biochem Physiol 10:153–171.
- Weis W, Brown JH, Cusack S, Paulson JC, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. 1988. Structure of the influenza virus haemagglutinin complexed with its receptor, sialic acid. Nature 333:426-431.
- Wessels MR, Rubens CE, Benedí V-J, Kasper DL. 1989. Definition of a bacterial virulence factor: sialylation of the group B streptococcal capsule. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:8983–8987.
- Willemsen PTJ, de Graaf FK. 1993. Multivalent binding of K99 fimbriae to the N-glycolyl-GM₃ ganglioside receptor. Infect Immun 61:4518-4522.
- Wilson IA, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. 1981. Structure of the haemagglutinin membrane glycoprotein of influenza virus at 3 A resolution. Nature 289:366–373.
- Wood B, Collard M. 1999. Anthropology—the human genus. Science 284:65–66.
- Yasue S, Handa S, Miyagawa S, Inoue J, Hasegawa A, Yamakawa T. 1978. Difference in form of sialic acid in red blood cell glycolipids of different breeds of dogs. J Biochem (Tokyo) 83:1101–1107.
- Ye J, Kitajima K, Inoue Y, Inoue S, Troy FA II. 1994. Identification of polysialic acids in glycoconjugates. Methods Enzymol 230:460-484.
- Yunis JJ, Prakash O. 1982. The origin of man: a chromosomal pictorial legacy. Science 215:1525–1530.
- Zhou Q, Hakomori S, Kitamura K, Igarashi Y. 1994. G_{M3} directly inhibits tyrosine phosphorylation and De-N-acetyl- G_{M3} directly enhances serine phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor, independently of receptor-receptor interaction. J Biol Chem 269:1959–1965.